**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM THE BERKELEY COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2010-CP-08-1771

Appellate Case No. 2014-000183

North Pleasant, LLC and Vanguard Development Group, LLC, Appellants

vs.

South Carolina Coastal Conservation League and Edward Dana Beach, Defendants

Of whom South Carolina Coastal Conservation League is the Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS, NORTH PLEASANT, LLC AND VANGUARD
DEVELOPMENT GROUP, LLC**

Stan Barnett
Ellison D. Smith, IV
SMITH, BUNDY, BYBEE & BARNETT, PC
Post Office Box 1542
Mount Pleasant, SC 29465-1542
(843)881-1623

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT DISMISSING APPELLANTS' TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE CLAIMS ON THE BASIS THAT THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE ACTIONS OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA COASTAL CONSERVATION LEAGUE CAUSED INJURY TO THE APPELLANTS.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT DISMISSING APPELLANTS' INJURIOUS FALSEHOOD CLAIM ON THE BASIS THAT THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE ACTIONS OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA COASTAL CONSERVATION LEAGUE CAUSED INJURY TO THE APPELLANTS.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA COASTAL CONSERVATION LEAGUE AS TO THE CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT, S.C. CODE §39-5-10, ET SEQ. BY HOLDING THAT THE SOUTH CAROLINA COASTAL CONSERVATION LEAGUE IS NOT ENGAGED IN TRADE OR COMMERCE BECAUSE IT IS A PUBLIC ADVOCACY GROUP.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves interference by the S.C. Coastal Conservation League (“the League”) and Dana Beach, its Director, with a contract for the sale of a tract of land in Berkeley County called the Keystone Tract. At the time of the contract, the land was owned by North Pleasant, LLC (“North Pleasant”) who contracted to sell it to Vanguard Properties of the Carolinas, LLC, a Charlotte based land investment company owned by Robert Pittinger (“Pittinger”). The purchase price was to be \$23,920,000.00. The listing real estate agency for the sale was Charleston based Vanguard Development Group, LLC whose principal is David Grubbs (“Grubbs”).¹ Three days before the end of the due diligence period, on May 18, 2007, the office of the buyer received a telephone call from a staff employee of the League in which he announced the League was opposed to any development in that part of Berkeley County, threatened the buyer with opposition to any development and falsely claimed that the League had fought and stopped a development by D. R. Horton on land near the Keystone Tract.

After receiving this threat, Robert Pittinger, directed his staff to cancel the contract and demand return of the earnest money previously deposited. This action was commenced by North Pleasant and Vanguard Development with a complaint filed on May 20, 2010 alleging that both the League and Dana Beach were liable to them for their losses and for punitive damages for intentional interference with a contract, for intentional interference with prospective contractual relations, breach of the S.C. Unfair

¹ Vanguard Development Group is in no way affiliated with the buyer, Vanguard Properties of the Carolinas.

Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code § 39-5-10, and publication of injurious falsehoods. Defendants answered on July 19, 2010.

Defendants moved for partial summary judgment on May 26, 2011 as to the Unfair Trade Practices Act claim arguing that because it was a “public advocacy group,” the League was not engaged in trade or commerce as defined by the Act. Both parties submitted affidavits and other evidence. On July 20, 2011, the trial judge, the Honorable Roger Young, issued an order denying Defendant’s motion, incorrectly characterizing it as a motion to dismiss, and holding, “I have carefully considered the arguments presented by counsel, as well as supporting memoranda. *Viewing the evidence as a whole and in the light most favorable to the plaintiff*, I find that the plaintiff has stated facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action in the pleadings filed with this court.” (Emphasis supplied). (R.p. 1).

Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment as to all claims on July 30, 2012. On December 18, 2012, the trial judge, the Honorable Roger Young, granted Defendants’ motion as to Dana Beach for all claims and as to the Unfair Trade Practices Act claim as to both defendants. He denied the motion as to the tortious interference with contract and prospective contractual relationships claims, as well as the injurious falsehood claims. As to the Unfair Trade Practices claim, Judge Young held, contrary to his Order in 2011, that as the League was a public advocacy group, it was not engaged in trade or commerce as a matter of law and, thus, not subject to the Unfair Trade Practices Act. (R.p. 5).

The case was tried before a jury in Berkeley County December 9 – 11, 2013. At the conclusion of Appellants’ case, Defendants moved for directed verdict as to the

interference with contract and injurious falsehood claims. The trial judge, the Honorable

Roger Young, granted the motion as to all claims. His decision is reflected only in his statements from the bench, the Order itself being a form order. (R.p. 1001-1015, 761). The basis for his grant of directed verdict was his finding that no evidence was presented to the jury that the League's actions caused the buyer to abandon the contract to purchase the Keystone Tract.² Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend on December 19, 2013 which was denied by the trial judge on January 17, 2014. (R.p. 752, 9). Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on January 7, 2014. (Notice of Appeal).

At trial, portions of four depositions were presented to the jury, these witnesses being non-residents of South Carolina -- Daniel Burns, Mitchell Flannery, Megan Desrosiers and Robert Pittinger. The court reporter did not transcribe the deposition testimony as it was read into the record. However, the portions of the testimony read to the jury were identified pursuant to Rule 32 in designations filed by the parties with the trial court. Those portions are included in the Record on Appeal along with the designations filed by the parties.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Property and the Pittinger Contract

This case centers around a contract to sell a large tract of land in Berkeley County on Highway 41 near Huger, a portion of the "Keystone Tract." The Keystone Tract contains a total of 4,478.28 acres. North Pleasant signed a contract on March 15, 2007 to sell 2,600 acres of the Keystone Tract to Vanguard Properties of the Carolinas, LLC, a

² While the only legal basis for a directed verdict is the *total lack of evidence* of causation, that is not what the trial judge found. His statements, in which he clearly weighed the evidence for and against causation, constitute his finding that the evidence did not sufficiently *prove causation*.

company owned entirely by Robert Pittinger, a Charlotte, North Carolina real estate investor (“Pittinger”). (R.p. 770-780, 1166). The sales price was \$9,200 per acre for a total of \$23,920,000. The contract provided for extensive due diligence by the buyer. Paragraph 5 required North Pleasant to provide the buyer with all information in a list of categories and allowed the buyer to refuse to close on the purchase if it was not satisfied with any of the matters inspected or reviewed by it. (R.p. 1169).

The realtor contracted by North Pleasant to handle this sale was Vanguard Development Group, Inc. based in Charleston, of which David Grubbs is the principal (“Grubbs”). (There is no corporate relationship between Vanguard Development and Vanguard Properties, prospective buyer of the land). His agreement with North Pleasant was for payment of a 5% commission on the sale of the property, for a total of \$1,196,000. The principal realtor who worked with Pittinger’s representatives in Charlotte on the sale was Josh Hulen. (R.p. 829-839).

League’s Overall Efforts to Prevent Development of the Keystone Tract

Preventing development of the Keystone Tract had been a key goal of the League and its allies since at least September 2004, when then Governor Mark Sanford wrote Mercer Reynolds, a principal of North Pleasant warning him that many individuals were organized in an effort to prevent development of the tract. (R.p. 810-811, 948-949). The Keystone Tract was being “targeted” by the League for preservation at the time the North Pleasant/Pittinger contract was executed. (R.p. 893). When North Pleasant bought the property, the League’s allies approached Josh Hulen in the person of Noel Thorn and tried to sell the idea of purchase of the property by the State. When no State purchase of the property was agreed upon, North Pleasant moved forward with efforts to

market the property pursuant to its zoning would allow a typical residential development. (R.p. 839-844).

At this time, the League commenced an effort to turn residents near the Keystone Tract against any development of the property. Hamilton Davis, a staff employee of the League, organized and ran a series of meetings in April of 2007. Fliers advertised barbeque and refreshments at these meetings at which Davis made a number of statements. (R.p. 902-912, 1162). He said, without checking with the county, that if the property were developed for residential use, the property taxes of nearby residents would go up. (R.p. 906-911). This was not true, according to the testimony of the County Administrator, Daniel Davis. (R.p. 942). He also said, again without checking with the county, that residents would have to pay to run water and sewer to the property if it were developed. (R.p. 906-911). This was also not true, again according to Daniel Davis. (R.p. 941). The correct information was readily available to Hamilton Davis had he asked the staff at Berkeley County. (R.p. 944-945). These false statements created a significant and vocal opposition to development of the Keystone property. (R.p. 1125, 1132).

League's Direct Interference in the Contract Between Pittinger and North Pleasant

Between execution of the contract of sale and May 2007, Pittinger's staff conducted extensive due diligence review and investigation of all aspects of the property. At no time during the due diligence period did anyone from Pittinger's office raise any problems with the property as to its character or environmental aspects. (R.p. 850-851). The due diligence "inspection period" was to end on May 21, 2007. (R.p. 778, 1169). Closing was to take place 60 days after that. On May 11, Dan Burns of Pittinger's staff

sent out letters to persons believed to be interested in purchasing part of the property and said, “We are presently acquiring” the 2,600 acres for which they were under contract with North Pleasant.” (R.p. 1160). A copy of this letter found its way to the League, and specifically to Hamilton Davis, who had spoken to Bennett and who was then engaged in extensive efforts to generate public opposition to development of the Keystone Tract and, if possible, to encourage its acquisition by a government body. (R.p. 919-921, 1160). Immediately prior to May 20, 2007, Pittinger deposited the remaining \$450,000 earnest money required by the contract. (R.p. 776, 855-856, 1167).

Upon learning that Pittinger’s company was under contract to purchase the property from North Pleasant, Hamilton Davis called Daniel Burns in Pittinger’s office and left him a voice mail message announcing that he wanted to discuss Pittinger’s prospective purchase of the 2,600 acre portion of the Keystone Tract. He left his name and phone number and said he wanted to discuss some of the things going on in the area. (R.p. 1161). Burns called Davis back about 4 p.m. that same day. This was three days before the due diligence period was to expire on May 21. Burns recorded the substance of his conversation with Hamilton Davis and put his notes into an email to his co-worker, Daniel Fogarty, and to Pittinger. (R.p. 1038-1039, 1108-1109, 1186). The flow of information was one-way, from Hamilton Davis to Burns, and included statements that:

1. The League “is trying to stop development in the Highway 41 corridor;”
2. The League was attempting to have the property rezoned “so it can’t be develop[ed];”
3. The League was “targeting the Keystone property;”
4. The League “fought” and “halted” a D.R. Horton project.

Burns' reaction to these statements was clear from his email to Fogarty and Pittinger. He said that the "scariest" thing was that the League claimed to have halted D.R. Horton from a major development and were close, with an alliance of plantation owners, to having the entire property rezoned to "conservation easement" so that it could not be developed. (R.p. 1186). In addition to being threatening, this statement was false. (R.p. 1052-1053). As a result of the call, Pittinger issued an ultimatum to North Pleasant on Sunday, May 20: Either grant an extension or we will terminate the Contract today. Faced with this choice, North Pleasant granted a two week extension. (R.p. 795, 1189). After conducting additional investigations prompted by the Davis call, Pittinger terminated the Contract on May 25, only one week after the Davis call. (R.p. 1199). The League did not present any evidence that the contract would have been terminated if Davis had not called Pittinger's representative.

Pittinger immediately directed his staff to learn what they could about the League. (R.p. 1110-1111, 1115-1116). Ultimately, he met with Dan Davis, the Berkeley County administrator to discuss the situation. Pittinger believed that to make the property marketable for development, which was his intention, it had to be possible to absorb the costs to run sewer to the property through sale of a sufficient number of lots. (R.p. 1119-1126, 1130-1131). There was already water available. (R.p. 837-838). The County Administrator confirmed to Pittinger there was significant opposition to development of the property and that the county would not run sewer to the property with its own resources. Pittinger understood from Hamilton Davis' comments to Burns and from his conversation with Dan Davis that he "had a tiger by the tail" and would be in for a long fight, "a war," primarily with the League, if he purchased the property and tried to market

it for development. (R.p. 1115-1116, 1124-1125, 1131, 1143-1144). On May 25, he directed his staff to cancel the contract and to notify North Pleasant. (R.p. 1125-1127, 1199).

North Pleasant, through Grubbs, began to market the 2,600 acres. (R.p. 821-824). As a result of the cancellation of the contract by Pittinger, North Pleasant and Grubbs lost the benefit of the contract, a \$16,506,035 loss for North Pleasant and a \$431,443 loss for Grubbs. (R.p. 821-824, 878-879, 956).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT DISMISSING APPELLANTS' TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE CLAIMS ON THE BASIS THAT THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE ACTIONS OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA COASTAL CONSERVATION LEAGUE CAUSED INJURY TO THE APPELLANTS.

A. Standard for Directed Verdict.

On appeal of an order granting directed verdict, the appellate court applies the same standard as that required of the trial court. The evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be considered in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. Fairchild v. S.C. Department of Transportation, 398 S.C. 90, 727 S.E.2d 407 (2012), citing Weir v. Citicorp Nat'l Servs, Inc., 312 S.C. 511, 435 S.E.2d 864 (1993). A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference. Fairchild, 727 S.E.2d at 411.

Neither the trial judge nor the appellate court has authority to weigh the testimony and other evidence in ruling on a motion for a directed verdict. Fairchild, 727 S.E.2d at 411. Nor should the trial or appellate courts decide credibility issues or resolve conflicts in testimony or evidence in ruling on a directed verdict motion. Harvey v. Strickland,

350 S.C. 303, 308, 566 S.E.2d 529, 532 (2002); and Winters v. Fiddle, 394 S.C. 629, 716 S.E.2d 316 (Ct. App. 2011). In ruling on a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is only authorized to determine the existence or non-existence of evidence. Roddey v. Wal-Mart Stores East, LP, 400 S.C. 59, 732 S.E. 2d 635, 647 (2012) (citing S.C. Fed. Credit Union v. Higgins, 394 S.C. 189, 714 S.E.2d 550 (2011)); Winters, and Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole, 351 S.C. 1, 567 S.E.2d 881, 888 (Ct. App. 2002).

B. The Sole Issue for review is whether the Trial Court erred when it decided that no reasonable jury could find that Davis' call was the proximate cause of Plaintiffs damages.

The sole basis for the trial court's decision to grant the League's motion for a directed verdict was its determination that Appellants had not shown any evidence that the League's actions, and specifically the Davis call, proximately caused their harm. Appellants argued that the contract was effectively terminated on Sunday, May 20, when Pittinger gave the ultimatum to either grant an extension or have the contract terminated that day. In addressing this argument, the trial court made the factual distinction that while termination on Sunday the 20th would have been the proximate cause of Appellants harm, the termination on the 25th could not, as a matter of law, amount to proximate cause. Specifically and clearly, Judge Young said:

If they had pulled the plug on the deal that day, then you got but for, and I say you go to the jury, but the problem is they asked for an extension, and they didn't pull the plug on the deal for another week or so after they got information about significant opposition from Dan Davis. Judge Young, Hearing (R.p. 1009, lines 5-10).

The conversation itself that took place a couple of days earlier with Hamilton Davis simply alerted them that they needed to look into some factors and they did, but they didn't cancel the contract on that day, so that's not a jury issue as to causation, or proximate cause. It was not a but for Hamilton Davis's conversation they cancelled the deal. (R.p. 1009, lines 17-23).

If termination on the 20th would amount to enough evidence of proximate cause to get to a jury, which Judge Young concedes, it is also for the jury to decide whether termination five days later would also be proximate cause. Since Judge Young agrees that if proximate cause had been satisfied the case would have gone to the jury, that is the sole issue to consider with respect to the Tortious Interference claims.

C. Only in rare or exceptional cases may the issue of proximate cause be decided as a matter of law.

The elements of a claim of tortious interference with contractual relations are: (1) the existence of a contract; (2) knowledge of the contract; (3) intentional procurement of its breach; (4) the absence of justification; and (5) resulting damages. Eldeco, Inc. v. Charleston County Sch. Dist., 642 S.E.2d 726, 731 (S.C. 2007). The elements of a claim of intentional interference with prospective contractual relations are: (1) intentional interference with prospective contractual relations; (2) for an improper purpose or by improper methods; and (3) resulting in injury. *Id.*, p. 731. The only elements at issue in this appeal are the proximate cause elements, “resulting damages,” the fifth and third elements, respectively. Since the proximate cause language for both torts is identical, they will be addressed together, and will be referred to collectively as the “Tortious Interference” claims.

In order to establish proximate cause, a plaintiff is only required to establish that the action was either a “substantial factor” in the harm or a “but for” cause of it. “In other words, if the actor's conduct is a substantial factor in the harm to another, the fact that he neither foresaw nor should have foreseen the extent of harm or the manner in which it occurred does not negative his liability.” J.T. Baggerly v. CSX Transp., Inc., 370 S.C. 362, 635 S.E.2d 97, 101 (S.C. 2006). See, also, Bocook Outdoor Media, Inc. v.

Summey Outdoor Adver., Inc., 294 S.C. 169, 178, 363 S.E.2d 390 (Ct. App. 1987), overruled on other grounds by, O'Neal v. Bowles, 314 S.C. 525, 431 S.E.2d 555 (Ct. App. 1987), citing Todd v. South Carolina Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance, 283 S.C. 155, 164; 321 S.E.2d 602, 607 (Ct. App. 1984). (In the context of a tortious interference claim, the plaintiff only needs to establish “but for” causation.) See Santoro v. Schulthess, 384 S.C. 250, 681 S.E.2d 897 (App., 2009) (Plaintiff only needed to allege “but for” causation to avoid dismissal of a tortious interference claim.) In order to survive the League’s motion for a directed verdict, Appellants only needed to produce “some evidence” that the Davis call was a “but for” factor in Pittinger’s termination of the agreement. Not only did Appellants succeed in producing such evidence, there was no contrary evidence.

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