IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2010-CP-08-1771

Appellate Case No. 2014-000183

RECEIVED

NOV 03 2014

SC Court of Appeals

North Pleasant, LLC and Vanguard Development Group, LLC Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Coastal Conservation League and Edward Dana Beach Defendants,
of whom the South Carolina Coastal Conservation League is the.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SOUTH CAROLINA
COASTAL CONSERVATION LEAGUE

G. Trenholm Walker
W. Andrew Gowder, Jr.
John P. Linton, Jr.
Pratt-Thomas Walker, P.A.
P.O. Drawer 22247
Charleston, SC 29413-2247
(843) 727-2200

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

“[I]n order to constitute actionable interference with a contract, it must appear that the act complained of was the proximate cause of the injury or damage.” Smith v. Citizens and Southern Nat. Bank of South Carolina, 241 S.C. 285, —, 128 S.E.2d 112, 114 (S.C. 1962) (citations omitted); *see also*, Gauld v. O’Shaughnessy Realty Co., 380 S.C. 548, 559, 671 S.E.2d 79, 85-86 (Ct. App. 2008) (stating that “. . . in order for damages to be recoverable the evidence should be such as to enable the court or jury to determine the amount thereof with reasonable certainty or accuracy. Neither the existence, causation nor amount of damages can be left to conjecture, guess, or speculation.”) (citations omitted).

While the elements of a cause of action for tortious interference with prospective contractual relations are different, a plaintiff seeking to recovery on a cause of action for tortious interference with prospective contractual relations must still provide proof of damages proximately caused by wrongful conduct. Specifically, “[t]o establish a cause of action for

intentional interference with prospective contractual relations, the plaintiff must prove: (1) that the defendant intentionally interfered with the plaintiff's potential contractual relations, (2) for an improper purpose or by improper methods, and (3) that the interference caused injury to the plaintiff. D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Wescott Land Co., LLC, 398 S.C. 528, 537, 730 S.E.2d 340, 355 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing Crandall Corp. v. Navistar Int'l Transp. Corp., 302 S.C. 265, 266, 395 S.E.2d 179, 180 (1990)). "While it is not necessary that the interfering party intend harm, it is necessary that he intend to interfere with a prospective contract." Id. (citing Eldeco, Inc. v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist., 372 S.C. 470, 481, 642 S.E.2d 726, 732 (2007)). "If a defendant acts for more than one purpose, his improper purpose must predominate in order to create liability." Crandall Corp. v. Navistar Intern. Transp. Corp., 302 S.C. 265, 267, 395 S.E.2d 179, 180 (S.C. 1990) (citations omitted).

The Circuit Court correctly granted Respondent's Motion for a Directed Verdict, because Mr. Pittenger's testimony is clear that Supervisor Dan Davis and the other individuals from Berkeley County gave him information bearing on the major issues that were important to him in determining whether to move forward to acquire the property: the availability of public water and sewer service, and the county's plans related to density. (**R. p. 1124, line 17-p. 1125, line 19**) (Pittenger stating that the county officials at the lunch informed him of a proposal to change the zoning of that area to allow only one house per 15 acres, that running utilities to the Keystone tract would be cost prohibitive, and that there were a large number of conservation easements in the area). These issues were all matters that impacted how Pittenger could use the property, and specifically whether he would achieve his minimum threshold density of one unit per acre he required in order to purchase a tract of raw land. (**R. p. 1095-A, lines 8-14**) ("Q. What is the typical due diligence that your firm would perform for an acquisition of property like this? A.

We want to see Phase I, environmental. We look for archeological, endangered species, wetlands. We want to know about zoning. We want to know about utilities.”); (R. p. 1118, lines 6-9) (Mr. Pittenger stating that his plans for the Property hinged on the ability to develop the Property with a minimum density of one residential unit per acre).

After the meeting with Supervisor Dan Davis, Mr. Pittenger e-mailed Daniel Fogarty multiple times explaining that he thought they would only be able to have zoning for one lot per 15 acres and that it would be cost prohibitive to run sewer to the property because there were too many conservation easements on properties between the Keystone tract and the river. (R. p. 1126, line 1-p. 1127, line 21).

Mr. Pittenger may have been under the impression that water was available for residential use because Josh Hulen, the broker for North Pleasant, had told Pittenger that there was a water line in front of the property:

Q:.....[D]id you talk to Mr. Fogarty about the availability of water?

A: Yes.

Q: All right. Did you tell him that the water line was only for industrial use for Nucor and that the owners of that property would not have access to it?

A: No.

Q. What did you tell them?

A: I told them water was available at the property.

Q: Was that correct?

A: There is a water line in front of the property.

Q: Did you have any information whether or not that water line could be accessed for residential use by the owners of this property?

A: I didn't represent that there was available for residential use. I told him there was water in front of the property.

(R. p. 879-A, lines 8-24). In one of the e-mails sent minutes after meeting with Dan Davis, Mr. Pittenger instructed Fogarty that he had decided not to purchase the property based on the information he learned from that meeting:

Q: . . . There is another e-mail within the hour, this one from you to Daniel Fogarty at 2:38 p.m. on Friday May 25th, and in this you say tell Neil Robinson we will terminate the contract following the discussion with Dan Davis, who said there is a significant number of conservation easements between the river and our property that would preclude cost effective sewer lines and also that the maximum density that he saw from the tract was one lot/15 acres. Is that what you instructed Mr. Fogarty to do?

A: Yes

Q: And in your estimation, was that the primary reason why you terminated?

A: Those two reasons.

Q: Are those the primary reasons you terminated, correct?

A: Correct.

Q: And the only two reasons that you stated in your e-mail, correct?

A: Well, that was enough.

(R. p. 1126, line 25-p. 1127, line 21). As is made clear by Mr. Pittenger's testimony, the information Mr. Pittenger learned at his meeting with Dan Davis convinced him not to purchase the property. Mr. Pittenger knew best the motivations for his decision, since it was his decision, alone. **(R. p. 1040, line 24-p. 1041, line 6);** (stating that Mr. Pittenger acted alone in making the decision not to purchase the Keystone tract)).

Furthermore, even if such a minor event—Hamilton Davis' voicemail and possible short follow up conversation with Daniel Burns—could somehow be considered to have played a role in the causal chain of events that led to Mr. Pittenger's decision, no evidence presented at trial would support a conclusion that it was the proximate cause of the damages claimed by the

Plaintiffs; as required to recover under these two causes of action. See Smith v. Citizens and Southern Nat. Bank of South Carolina, 241 S.C. 285, 288, 128 S.E.2d 112, 114 (1962) (“in order to constitute actionable interference with a contract, it must appear that the act complained of was the proximate cause of the injury or damage”) (citations omitted); D.R. Horton, at 537, 730 S.E.2d at 355 (stating the elements of tortious interference with a prospective contract).

Appellants, in arguing that Hamilton Davis’s voice mail and possible follow up conversation with Daniel Burns somehow caused Mr. Pittenger to decide not to purchase the property completely disregard the testimony and engage in pure speculation and invention. For a jury to believe their theory of liability, the jury would have to disregard Mr. Pittenger’s unchallenged, unequivocal, and uncontradicted testimony as to why he decided to cancel the contract. No one testified that the reason Mr. Pittenger terminated the contract was related to the League, nor was his credibility ever impeached. Therefore, because the testimony was susceptible to one conclusion only and a reasonable jury is not entitled to disregard uncontradicted testimony, the Circuit Court’s Order granting the League’s Motion for a Directed Verdict should be affirmed. See Page v. Crisp, 303 S.C. 117, 118-19, 399 S.E.2d 161, 162 (Ct. App. 1990) (“We recognize that a jury is not required to believe testimony when reasonable persons could disagree as to facts, but it is not permitted to disbelieve testimony unless there is good reason for questioning the credibility of the witnesses.”); Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA, 334 S.C. 469, 476-77, 514 S.E.2d 126, 130 (1999) (“When the evidence yields only one inference, a directed verdict in favor of the moving party is proper.”).

- b. The Circuit Court's Order granting the League's Motion for a Directed Verdict should be affirmed in the alternative as to the cause of action for tortious interference with a prospective contract, because a contract existed and there was no evidence of a prospective contractual relationship.

The existence of the sales contract precludes any recovery on a claim for interference with prospective contractual relations as a matter of law. See Egrets Pointe Townhouses Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Fairfield Communities, Inc., 870 F. Supp. 110, 116 (D.S.C. 1994) ("Because there was a valid contract in existence between Southern and the Association at the inception of this action, this court finds that *the existence of that contract precludes any recovery on a claim for interference with prospective contractual relations*") (double emphasis added)).

Here, the uncontradicted evidence was that there was a contract between North Pleasant and Pittenger. (R. pp. 1166-78). Additionally, there was no evidence of any prospective contractual relationship. Therefore, as alternative to the grounds mentioned above, the Circuit Court's granting the League's Motion for a Directed Verdict should be affirmed as to the cause of action for tortious interference with a prospective contract because a contract existed and there was no evidence of a prospective contractual relationship.

III. The Circuit Court properly granted the League's Motion for a Directed Verdict as to Appellants' injurious falsehood causes of action.

- a. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that no evidence presented at trial supported any reasonable inference that any employee or agent of the League had published falsehoods that caused Appellants any harm.
- (i) South Carolina has not recognized the tort of injurious falsehood outside the context of slander of title.

The only South Carolina cases mentioning injurious falsehood are in the context of an action for slander of title and are completely distinguishable from this case, which does not involve any disparagement of title. See e.g. Solley v. Navy Federal Credit Union, Inc., 397 S.C.

192, 206-07, 723 S.E.2d 597, 604-05 (Ct. App. 2012); Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole, 351 S.C. 1, 19, 567 S.E.2d 881, 890 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Slander of title is grounded in the tort of injurious falsehood”) (citation omitted); Huff v. Jennings, 319 S.C. 142, 149, 459 S.E.2d 886, 891 (Ct. App. 1995) (discussing slander of title). Therefore, because South Carolina has not recognized the tort of injurious falsehood outside the context of slander of title, the Circuit Court’s Order granting the League’s Motion for Directed Verdict as to Appellants’ injurious falsehood cause of action should be affirmed.

(ii) Appellants presented no evidence upon which a reasonable jury could have concluded that any false statement was made by the League.

Assuming *arguendo* that South Carolina recognizes the tort of injurious falsehood beyond the context of slander of title, Appellants would have had to have presented at least some evidence of a false statement, which they failed to do at trial. See Rest. 2d Torts § 623A (a claim for injurious falsehood requires a false statement). Furthermore, they would have to have presented evidence that the League knew that the statement it made was false (or acted in reckless disregard to its truth or falsity) and that the false statement resulted in harm to the plaintiff. See Rest. 2d Torts § 623A(a)-(b); see also, *id.* at cmt. d. (“A principal basis for liability for injurious falsehood has been that the publisher knew that the statement was false or that he did not have the basis of knowledge or belief professed by his assertion. This is the same test as that for scienter in the tort of deceit.”).

The only alleged statements Appellants asserted supported their cause of action for injurious falsehood were “false statements to residents and landowners and to the county concerning the development planned for the property by Vanguard Properties and such statements were harmful to Plaintiffs as such false statements engendered and aroused opposition to said development and caused Vanguard Properties to abandon their plans for the development

and refuse to purchase the property.” (R. p. 26, ¶ 45). Appellants have indicated that these “false statements made to landowners and the county” regarded the effect of dense development on local property taxes.

There was no proof of any specific statement at trial. (R. p. 906, line 23-p. 909, line 3) (Hamilton Davis discussing that he attended community cookouts and discussed the costs associated with development with those in attendance). Any general statement about the costs associated with dense development or the effect of increasing property taxes as property values increase is a matter of opinion upon which people differ, not a factual statement, and there was no evidence to support a finding that Hamilton Davis acted in reckless disregard of the truth or with knowledge that such a statement was false. (R. p. 909, line 4-p. 911, line 15) (Hamilton Davis discussing that he had reviewed written studies discussing the effect of new development on the cost of services and property taxes). Furthermore, Appellants presented no evidence at trial that anyone relied on these statements, that anyone even heard these statements, or that these statements had anything at all to do with Pittenger’s decision to terminate the contract. The only evidence presented with respect to the statements was Hamilton Davis’ own testimony that he discussed the issues with members of the community at community events. (R. p. 906, line 23-p. 909, line 3).

Therefore, because no evidence presented at trial supported a conclusion that such a statement was made as a factual statement, that it was false, that it was made with knowledge of its falsity (or reckless disregard of the truth), or that any such statement caused Mr. Pittenger not to proceed with the contract, the Circuit Court’s order granting the League’s Motion for a Directed Verdict should be affirmed as to Appellants’ injurious falsehood cause of action.

Likewise, though not contained in the pleadings to the extent Appellants now contend that Hamilton Davis' communication with Daniel Burns is the basis of their injurious falsehood cause of actions, they failed to present competent evidence at trial supporting such a claim. Appellants did not present any actual evidence of a false statement made by Hamilton Davis in his communication with Daniel Burns, that such a false statement was made with knowledge of its falsity (or reckless disregard of the truth), or that any such statement caused Mr. Pittenger not to proceed with the contract.

Appellants presented no evidence from which a reasonable jury could conclude that his alleged statements (the wording and precise substance of which are unknown and unremembered by both Hamilton Davis and Daniel Burns) were statements of fact and that they were false. Other than the recorded voice mail message there was no evidence of any statement made by Hamilton Davis. Daniel Burns did not remember the communication. Appellants' attempt to attribute Burn's subsequent commentary of his impressions of what Hamilton Davis said in an e-mail sent several days after the communication as Hamilton Davis' quotations. They were not. The Court did not believe one witness over another or weigh the evidence; there was no conflicting testimony or conflicting evidence as to what Hamilton Davis actually said. (**R. p. 975, line 24-p. 977, line 2**). Therefore, because no evidence presented at trial supported a conclusion that such a statement was made as a factual statement, that it was false, or that it was made with knowledge of its falsity (or reckless disregard of the truth), the Circuit Court's order granting the League's Motion for a Directed Verdict should be affirmed as to Appellants' injurious falsehood cause of action.

(iii) Appellants failed to present any evidence at trial upon which a reasonable jury could conclude that any statements made by the League, whether true or false, caused Mr. Pittenger to decide not to proceed to closing on the Keystone tract.

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